Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Biotechnology Advances



IOTECHNOLC

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/biotechadv

Research review paper Unexpected applications of secondary metabolites

Preeti Vaishnav^a, Arnold L. Demain^{b,*}

^a 206 Akshardeepp Apts., Near New Jain Temple, GIDC, Ankleshwar 393002, Gujarat, India

^b Charles A, Dana Research Institute for Scientists Emeriti (R.I.S.E.), Drew University, Madison, NJ 07940, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 10 September 2010 Received in revised form 23 November 2010 Accepted 24 November 2010 Available online 3 December 2010

Keywords: Antibiotics Antitumor agents Immunosuppressants Cholesterol-lowering agents Secondary metabolites Natural products

ABSTRACT

Secondary metabolites have been found to have interesting applications over and above their well-known medical uses, e.g., as antimicrobials, etc. These alternative applications include antitumor, cholesterollowering, immunosuppressant, antiprotozoal, antihelminth, antiviral and anti-ageing activities. Polyene antibiotics, such as amphotericin B, are of use as antiprion agents, antitumor drugs and against leishmaniasis. Other microbial natural products that show antibiotic activity are used against cancer e.g., doxorubicin, neomycin, β-lactams, bleomycin and rapamycin. Macrolide antibiotics, such as erythromycin, clarithromycin and azithromycin, improve pulmonary function in patients suffering from panbion cholitis. Pigments like prodigiosin and shikonin have antitumor activity, while violacein has anti-ulcer and antitumor activity and also acts as an antiprotozoal agent. Statins, in addition to lowering cholesterol and LDL levels, also decrease elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) levels independent of their cholesterol effects. Immunosppressants have many alternative effects: (i) Cyclosporin is proving useful in treatment of inflammatory disease such as asthma and muscular dystrophy. (ii) Rapamycin is extremely useful in preventing restenosis of stents grafted in balloon angioplasty. (iii) Tacrolimus and ascomycin help in treating inflammatory skin disease such as allergic contact dermatitis and psoriasis. Artemisinin, an antimalarial agent, is also showing antitumor activity. Other natural products, including those from plants (betulinic acid and shikonin), animals (bryostatins) and microbes (squalestatin and sophorolipids) have a multiplicity of potentially useful actions. Unexpected functions of known secondary metabolites are continuously being unraveled, and are fulfilling some of the needs of present day medicine and show great promise for the future.

© 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	uction	224
2.	Antibi	otics	224
	2.1.	β -lactams	224
	2.2.	Tetracyclines	224
	2.3.	Aminoglycosides and Macrolides	225
	2.4.	Polyenes	225
	2.5.	Coumermycins	225
	2.6.	Glycopeptides	225
	2.7.	Ansamycins	225
	2.8.	Lincosamides	225
	2.9.	Isoxazolidinones	225
	2.10.	Pigmented antibiotics	226
	2.11.	Chloropeptins	226
	2.12.	Fosfidomycin	226
3.	Antitu	mor agents	226
	3.1.	Anthracyclines	226
	3.2.	Taxol	226
	3.3.	Epothilones	226
	3.4.	Brvostatins	226

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 973 408 3937; fax: +1 973 408 3504. *E-mail address:* ademain@drew.edu (A.L. Demain).

^{0734-9750/\$ -} see front matter © 2010 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2010.11.006

4.	Immunosuppressants	227
5.	Cholesterol-lowering agents	227
6.	Other agents	228
	6.1. Artemisinin	228
	6.2. Shikonin	228
	6.3. Betulinic acid	228
	6.4. Sophorolipids	228
7.	Final comments	228
Refe	erences	228

1. Introduction

Secondary metabolites, also referred to as natural products, are the products of metabolism not essential for normal growth, development or reproduction of an organism. These compounds serve to meet the secondary requirements of the producing organisms. They empower them to survive interspecies competition, provide defensive mechanisms and facilitate reproductive processes. Well known sources of secondary metabolites are plants, bacteria, fungi and marine organisms such as sponges, tunicates, corals and snails. Many secondary metabolites have proved invaluable as antibacterial or antifungal agents, anticancer drugs, cholesterol-lowering agents, immunosuppressants, antiparasitic agents, herbicides, diagnostics, and tools for research. Some of these have found to play a pivotal role in treatment or prevention of a multitude of biological disorders, many of which did not have any cure until these products were discovered.

In addition to their known activities and employment in combating disease, secondary metabolites reveal surprising additional activities which may be possible solutions to other diseases, some of which lack effective solutions. Many antibiotics, bacterial pigments, plant terpenoids, are also found to have anti-HIV, antitumor, anti-ageing, immunosuppressant, antiprotozoal and antihelminth activities, thus exhibiting multifarious applications in the sphere of medicine. Unraveling the novel applications of known secondary metabolites and exploiting a myriad of sources as microbes, plants and higher animals for screening new secondary metabolites are paving the way to treat "untreatable diseases", and help reduce mortality rates. In this review, we point out these other activities of useful secondary metabolites in the battle against life-threatening diseases in the hope that this will catalyze further efforts to apply these useful compounds against other forms of human disease. Of course, these further efforts will have to consider the possible toxicity of the compounds, resistance development and the possibility that humans may be resistant to them.

2. Antibiotics

Many antibiotics have a broad spectrum of activities (Table 1). For example, the majority of antitumor products used today in the fight against cancer were first discovered as antibiotics produced by microbes (Newman and Shapiro, 2008). These include actinomycin D (dactinomycin), anthracyclines (including daunorubicin, doxorubicin [adriamycin], epirubicin, pirirubicin, idarubicin, valrubicin, and amrubicin), glycopeptolides (bleomycin and phleomycin), the mitosane mitomycin C, anthracenones (mithramycin, streptozotocin, and pentostatin) and the endiyne calcheamycin attached to a monoclonal antibody (Mylotarg®).

2.1. β -lactams

The most well-known antibiotics are the β -lactams, i.e., penicillins and cephalosporins. Some β -lactam-based compounds also have activity as antitumor prodrugs (Xing et al., 2008). Also being considered are β -lactams as prodrugs that can specifically target tumor cells and as N-methylthiolated β -lactams which induce apoptosis (Kuhn et al., 2004). Apoptosis, also known as regulated cell death or programmed cell death, is different from necrosis in which cell death results from acute injury (Lederman, 2004). Apoptosis is required for normal development in which unneeded cells are eliminated. It occurs in three stages: (i) initiation occurs through activation of death receptors by a death signal such as damaged DNA; (ii) the enzyme caspase 3 is activated; (iii) caspase 3 cleaves effector molecules resulting in cell shrinkage, nuclear fragmentation and membrane blebbing. Induction of apoptosis is considered to be useful in fighting cancer.

2.2. Tetracyclines

Tetracyclines render prion aggregates susceptible to proteolytic attack (Borman 2002) and thus may be useful against prion diseases. Prion diseases include scrapie of sheep, spongiform encelopathy of cattle. Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. fatal insomnia and Gerstmann-Struussler-Scheinker disease in humans (Forloni et al., 2002). These diseases, also known as transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSEs), are transmissible and cause neurodegenerative disorders of humans and animals for which no effective treatment is available. They are usually rapidly progressive and always fatal. They are associated with the conversion and accumulation of the alpha-helix rich prion protein (PrPC) into a beta-structure-rich, protease-resistant insoluble isoform (PrPSc) that is thought to be infectious. The normal isoform of this protein (PrP^c) is a copper-binding glycoprotein expressed at the surface of a number of cell types but principally neurons. The mechanism for the conversion of PrPC to PrPSc is poorly understood. PrPSc is a primary target for therapeutic strategies (Forloni et al., 2002). Both tetracycline and doxycycline reduce infectivity of prions. Although a number of other antiprion agents are known (e.g., quinacrine, polyanions, polyene antibiotics, anthracyclines [iododoxorubicin], chlorpromazine, Congo Red, tetrapyrroles, polyamines, antibodies and certain peptides), these are unable to pass the blood-brain barrier and/

Table 1			
Alternative	activities	of	antibiotics

Antibiotic group	Unexpected activities
β-lactams	Antitumor (inducing apoptosis)
Tetracyclines	Antiprion, antimalaria
Aminoglycosides	Pulmonary disease, immunomodulation, antitumor, antiparastic
and macrolides	(leishmaniasis), antimalaria
Chloropeptins	Anti-HIV
Lincosamides	Antimalaria
Isoxazolidinones	Neurotransmission
Prodigines	Antiprotozoa, antimalaria, anticancer, immunosuppression
Polyenes	Imunomodulation, antiprion, antiviral, antitumor, anti-HIV,
	antiparasitic (leishmaniasis)
Coumermycins	Antitumor
Glycopeptides	Anti-HIV
Ansamycins	Anticancer, antiviral
Violacein	Antiprotozoal, antitumor, antiviral, anti-ulcer
Fosfidomycin	Antimalaria

or are toxic. The tetracyclines can pass through and are non-toxic. Tetracycline reverses abnormal physicochemical properties and abolishes neurotoxicity of PrP peptides *in vitro*. Hence, the ability of tetracycline to interact with PrP^{Sc} from patients with the new variant of Creutzfeldt–Jakob disease (vCJD) and cattle with bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) was tested. The incubation with tetracycline hydrochloride or doxycycline hyclate at concentrations ranging from 10 μ M to 1 mM resulted in a dose-dependent decrease in protease resistance of PrP^{Sc} . Thus, it can be concluded that tetracyclines reduce prion infectivity through a direct interaction with PrP^{Sc} and are potentially useful for inactivation of BSE- or vCJD-contaminated products and prevention strategies.

Doxycycline, a semisynthetic tetracycline, is useful against malaria (Schlitzer, 2008). A derivative doxycycline hyclate (Periostat®) is used against periodontis since it inhibits enzymes breaking down gum tissue (Golub et al., 1998).

2.3. Aminoglycosides and Macrolides

Among the most well-known antibiotics are the aminoglycoside antibacterials. A surprising finding was that the antibacterial neomycin inhibits human angiogenin-induced angiogenesis in human endothelial cells (Hu, 1998). Angiogenesis is a process of blood vessel growth involved in initiation, development, and progression of many diseases, including cancer, metastasis, and diabetic retinopathy. It is a fundamental step in the transition of tumors from a dormant state to a malignant one. The mechanism appears to act via neomycin's ability to inhibit phospholipase C. Surprisingly, other aminoglycosides (gentamicin, streptomycin, kanamycin, amikacin and paromomycin) are inactive even though paromomycin differs from neomycin by merely having –OH at position 6 of the glucose ring instead of –NH₂.

Paromomycin is up for approval in the USA, Europe and India for visceral leishmaniasis ("black fever"), a parasitic disease, which kills 200,000 people per year in Africa, Latin America and India (Filmore, 2004). This aminoglycoside had been used as a broad spectrum antibiotic from the 1960s to the 1980s and then donated to WHO by Pharmacia/UpJohn. With the help of WHO, the Gates Foundation and the non-profit One World Health organization, its activity against leishmaniasis was proven.

Azithromycin, a very successful semisynthetic erythromycin-type antibiotic, has found use against malaria (Schlitzer, 2008). Macrolides, including erythromycin, clarithromycin and azithromycin, improve pulmonary function and lower exacerbation frequency in patients suffering from diffuse panbion cholitis (DPB), a progressive obstructive lung disease prevalent in Asia (Schultz, 2004). The effect appears to be due to immunomodulation, i.e., anti-inflammatory action. Before use of aminoglycosides, the ten year survival rate was below 50%; with them, it is above 90%. The immunomodulatory action is unrelated to their antibiotic effects (Shinkai et al., 2008). Erythromycin and clarithromycin are employed in Japan for sinusitis and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, e.g., diffuse panbronchiolitis (Kadota et al., 1993). Erythromycin has been used to treat cystic fibrosis and bronchiectasis. The effects of the macrolides differ from those of classical immunosuppressants. That the effect is not related to their antibiotic activity was shown by the discovery of macrolide EM703 which has no antimicrobial activity but retains immunomodulatory action (Li et al., 2006).

Derivatives of erythromycin with little or no antibacterial activity can inhibit HIV replication and may be useful vs. AIDS (Komuro et al., 2008). Since 1981, 65 million individuals have been infected with HIV, resulting in AIDS-caused death of 25 million. In 2006 alone, 4.3 million people were infected and 2.9 million died. About 2.5 million people were newly infected with HIV in 2007 while 2.1 million people died. In 2007, over 39 million people had HIV infections. The number of people living with HIV is rising, because of population growth and the fact that drug treatment is prolonging life.

2.4. Polyenes

Activities of polyene antibiotics, other than for antifungal therapy, that are being studied include (i) immunomodulation by activating cells of the immune system; (ii) anti-HIV activity by inhibiting HIV replication; (iii) anticancer activity in killing of hepatoma cells, (iv) antiprion activity by reducing insolubility and protease resistance of PrPSc (Zotchev, 2003) and (v) antiviral activity. Amphotericin B is effective in treatment of transmissible spongiform encephalopathies (TSE) in transgenic mice expressing Syrian Hamster PrP (Mangé et al., 2000). It acts by delaying the accumulation of PrP^{Sc} and increases the incubation time of the disease after experimental transmission in laboratory animals (Demaimay et al., 1999). Amphotericin B inhibits the Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV) (Kim et al., 2004). This is important since no other drug against JEV is available. The sterol-binding activity of the polyene antibiotic nystatin results in activity against the obligate intracellular parasite Leishmania donovani. This parasite infects macrophages of the vertebrate host resulting in visceral leishmaniasis in humans, a major public health problem worldwide. The molecular mechanisms involved in internalization of Leishmania are still poorly characterized. Nystatin sequesters cholesterol and markedly inhibits binding and entry of non-opsonized L. donovani promastigotes into macrophages (Tewary et al., 2006).

2.5. Coumermycins

The coumermycin type antibiotic novobiocin binds to DNA gyrase at its ATP-binding pocket and inhibits bacteria by blocking ATP hydrolysis. It also has antitumor activity especially against breast cancer. New and more potent antitumor analogs have been synthesized (Donnelly et al. 2008).

2.6. Glycopeptides

Promising anti-HIV drugs include the aglycones of the glycopeptide antibiotics, vancomycin, teicoplanin and eremomycin (Balzarini et al., 2003).

2.7. Ansamycins

Ansamycins contain a chromophore which is benzene- or naphthalene-based connected via an ansa bridge so that one end of the chromophore is linked to the other end by an amide linkage. The chromophore is derived from a *m*C₇N structure coming from 3-amino-5-hydroxybenzoic acid (AHBA) produced via the aminoshikimate pathway. The polyketide pathway supplies any other part of the chromophore and the ansa bridge (Wu et al., 2008). The most wellknown ansamycin is rifampin which is semisynthesized from rifamycin, produced by *Amycolatopsis mediterranei*, and is effective against mycobacterial infections such as TB. Another is geldanamycin produced by *Streptomyces hygroscopicus*. A semisynthetic product, 17-allylamino-demethoxygeldanomycin (17AAG) is being studied clinically against cancer (Solit et al., 2007). Rifamycin and geldanomycin also have antiviral activity *in vitro*.

2.8. Lincosamides

Clindamycin, a semisynthetic lincosamide (a derivative of the antibacterial lincomycin), is an effective antimalarial drug especially when used with quinine (Lell and Kremser 2002; Schlitzer, 2008).

2.9. Isoxazolidinones

The broad spectrum isoxazolidinone antibacterial D-cycloserine increases function of a receptor for the neurotransmitter glutamate (Anonymous, 2008) that is part of memory extinction. The

neurotransmitter is called the NMDA receptor. Use of cycloserine helps humans lower their fear of heights. Recently, it is being used to help US military veterans lessen post-traumatic stress disorder.

2.10. Pigmented antibiotics

Prodigines are red tripyrrole antibiotics containing a pyrrolylpyrromethane skeleton They are produced by Gram-positive and Gramnegative bacteria (species of Serratia, Hahella, Pseudomonas, Vibrio, Streptomyces, Streptoverticillium, Actinomadura, Saccharopolyspora, Alteromonas and Pseudoalteromonas). In addition to their antibacterial action, they have many other activities: antifungal, antiprotozoal, antimalarial, anticancer and immunosuppressive (Williamson et al., 2006). The compounds include prodigiosin, undecylprodigiosin, butylmethyl-cycloheptyl prodiginine, cycloprodigiosin and cyclonoylprodigiosin. More than 30 genes are involved in their biosynthesis. They are being tested against cancer since they cause apoptosis in tumor cells (Péreg-Tomás et al., 2003). Prodigiosin, a product of S. marcescens, exerts an antitumor effect by arresting the cell cycle and inducing apoptosis (Zhang et al., 2005). It has shown activity against hematopoeitic, colorectal, gastric, and pancreatic cancer cells. Its activity against pancreatic cancer gives hope for cure of this fourth leading cause of cancer in the USA, killing 30,000 people per year. It is very deadly with a 5-year survival for only 3–5% of those with the disease. Median survival after diagnosis is less than 6 months. Prodigiosin also has immunosuppressive properties (Pandey et al., 2007).

Violacein, a toxic blue–violet pigment from *Chromobacterium* violaceum with antibacterial activity, also protects against protozoa, acts against the tropical pathogens *Trypanosoma cruzi* (which causes Chagas' disease) and *Leishmania* sp., shows antitumor activity, antiviral activity (vs. polio and herpes) and anti-ulcer activity (Sánchez et al., 2006; Durán et al., 2007). It is being studied as an agent preventing gastric ulcers when complexed with β -cyclodextrin which decreases its toxicity (Duran et al., 2003).

2.11. Chloropeptins

These antibiotics, produced by the soil actinomycete *Streptomyces* sp., WK-3419, were found to have anti-HIV activity (Tanaka et al., 1997). Chloropeptins I and II inhibit the binding between the viral exterior envelope glycoprotein gp120 and CD4 receptors on the target cell, thus interfering with the cytopathic effect of HIV in MT-4 cells. They also inhibit syncytium formation in co-cultured HIV-1-infected MOLT-4 cells. Chloropeptin I is synergistic in inhibition of the cytopathic effect when combined with other anti-HIV drugs such as zidovudine (AZT), didanosine (ddI), zalcitabine (ddC) and nevirapine.

2.12. Fosfidomycin

Another antibiotic which has found use against malaria is fosfidomycin (Schlitzer, 2008). It is a structural analog of 2-C-methyl-D-erythrose-4-phosphate and inhibits a key enzyme in the non-mevalonate pathway used by the malaria parasite. When combined with clindamycin, it has shown success (Ruangweerayut et al., 2008).

3. Antitumor agents

In addition to unexpected activities of antibiotics, many other natural products have secondary activities with potential application in medicine (Table 2).

3.1. Anthracyclines

Doxorubicin is a member of the anthracycline group of anticancer compounds and is used in treating late stage tumors. Other members

	[abl	е	2	
--	------	---	---	--

Alternative action of secondary metabolites.		
Secondary metabolite group/compound	Unexpected activities	

0 1, 1 1	
Immunosuppressants	Antifungal, antitumor, anti-inflammatory, antimalarial, reversal of multidrug resistance to antitumor agents, nerve cell stimulation, stent-impregnation, neuroprotection, anti-atopic dermatitis (eczema)
Cholesterol-lowering agents (statins)	Stroke prevention, reduce development of peripheral vascular disease, antithrombotic, neuroprotective, anti-inflammatory, antiprion diseases, anti-multiple sclerosis, antitumor, antifungal, lower elevated C-reactive protein
Antitumor agents	Antiviral, including HIV, antifungal, memory enhancement
Artemisinin (antimalarial)	Antitumor
Shikonin (pigment for cosmetics)	Anti-inflammatory, antitumor, wound healing, anti-HIV replication
Sophorolipids (surfactants)	Antibacterial, antifungal, antitumor
Betulinic acid and derivatives	Antiretroviral, antimalarial, anti-inflammatory, antitumor

are bleomycin, daunorubicin, valrubicine, epirubicin and dactinomycin. Bleomycin also inhibits replication of hepatitis C virus (Rakic et al., 2006) and is active against HIV, including drug-resistant strains (Georgiou et al., 2006).

3.2. Taxol

Pacitaxel (Taxol), a plant alkaloid originally isolated from the Pacific Yew tree *Taxus brevifolia*, is one of the leading antitumor agents in use today, especially against breast cancer (Cisse and Mucke, 2009). In 1993, a taxol-producing endophytic fungus, *Taxomyces andreanae*, was discovered in *T. brevifolia*. Subsequently, fungal endophytes in a wide variety of higher plants were found to make taxol. Taxol prevents the depolymerization of microtubules during cell division in human tumor cells. The same effect has been observed in fungi; consequently, in nature, taxol acts as a fungicide.

3.3. Epothilones

The combination of anticancer and antifungal activity is also seen with the epothilones, compounds that have the same mode of action against breast tumors as taxol but are active against taxol-resistant tumors. Epothilones are 16-member ring macrolides produced by the myxobacterium *Sorangium cellulosum*. They bind to and stabilize microtubules essential for DNA replication and cell division, even more so than taxol. One epothilone (ixebepilone) has been approved by FDA. By preventing the disassembly of microtubules, they cause arrest of the tumor cell cycle at the GM2/M phase and induce apoptosis (programmed cell death). The mechanism is similar to that of taxol but they bind to β -tubulin at different binding sites and induce microtubule polymerization. The original development of the epothilones was for antifungal activity, but they made their mark against tumors (Goodin, 2008).

3.4. Bryostatins

These agents, found in extracts of the tiny colonial animal, i.e., the bryozoan *Bugula neritin*, are believed to be produced by the gamma proteobacterial symbiont *Endobugula sertula*. They have cytotoxic properties and are under investigation as anticancer agents. It has now been found that in numerous hematological and solid tumor cell lines, bryostatin-1 inhibits proliferation, induces differentiation, and promotes apoptosis. Furthermore, preclinical studies indicate that bryostatin-1 potently enhances the effect of chemotherapy. In many

cases, this effect is sequence specific. Bryostatin-1 is currently in phase I and phase II clinical trials (Kortmansky and Schwartz, 2003). Of relevance here is that bryostatins also are memory-enhancing agents. They have proved to be promising candidates for treatment for Alzheimer's disease, as tested on the snail Hermissenda, both for neurodegeneration, the underlying cause of the disease, and for the symptoms. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has given the Blanchette Rockefeller Neurosciences Institute (BRNI) the go-ahead to conduct Phase II clinical trials of bryostatin for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease patients (BRNI Press release; April 22, 2009).

4. Immunosuppressants

Immunosuppressants are valuable drugs which are produced by microorganisms and were first isolated as antibiotics. For example, rapamycin (sirolimus), tacrolimus (FK506), and cyclosporin A were discovered as antifungal antibiotics (High, 1994). However, they found their medical niche as immunosuppressants and are responsible for the success of the organ transplantation field. The antifungal and immuno-suppressive activities may be unrelated since non-immunosuppressive derivatives have been obtained with good antifungal activity (Cruz et al., 2000). Two non-immunosuppressive analogs of cyclosporin are active against *Cryptococcus neoformans*. Like the immunosuppressive cyclosporin, they act by binding to cyclophilin A and inhibiting the action of the fungal calcineurin. A non-immunosuppressive analogue of tacrolimus also inhibits the fungus.

Cyclosporin A and tacrolimus convert the normally fungistatic activity of azoles (i.e., fluconozole) against *Candida albicans*, *Candida glabrata* and *Candida krusei* into fungicidal activity (Onyewu et al., 2003). They do this by inhibiting the protein phosphatase calcineurin. Even non-immunosuppressive analogs of tacrolimus have this ability. Non-azole drugs that inhibit other steps of ergosterol biosynthesis (terbinafine and fenpropimorph) are also improved in activity by immunosuppressants and their non-immunosuppressive analogs.

More than any group of microbial secondary metabolites, it is amazing how many additional potentially useful applications have been found for these compounds. Rapamycin has anticancer activity (Stoeltzing et al., 2006; Law, 2005; Sawyers, 2003; Brown et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2007). It and its derivatives specifically inhibit the mTOR (target of rapamycin) protein kinase as the mechanism in both immunosuppression and antitumor activities. Rapamycin and mycophenolic acid inhibit tumor growth by interfering with angiogenesis (Guba et al. 2002; Pray 2002; Chong et al., 2006). Furthermore, rapamycin shows synergy with protein tyrosine kinase (PTK) inhibitors such as Gleevac (Imatnib) which is used for leukemia but for which resistance is developing (Mohi et al., 2004). A rapamycin analog called temsirolimus (ToricelTM) was approved for renal cell carcinoma (Rini et al., 2007). Rapamycin, cyclosporin A and tacrolimus also reverse multidrug resistance to antitumor agents in mammalian cells (Arceci et al. 1992).

Rapamycin has found a novel use in cardiology because rapamycinimpregnated stents are less prone to proliferation and restenosis which usually occur after treatment of coronary artery disease. The traditional treatment for coronary artery disease was the coronary artery bypass graft in which a vein from the leg is spliced around the heart blockage. The number of such surgical procedures dropped from 573,000 in 1995 to 519,000 in 2000. The drop was due to the use of cardiac stents (small metallic scaffolds) inserted into blocked arteries by threading them through the body from a small thigh opening, thus obviating heart surgery (balloon angioplasty). The stents are impregnated with rapamycin in a thin polymeric coating over the steel mesh. The drug is continuously eluted and prevents vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation, thus the cells cannot grow over the mesh (Ryan, 2003). As a result, stent restinosis is prevented. Such restinosis occurs in 15–60% of patients receiving bare stents (Vishnevetsky et al., 2004). Cyclosporin A analogs are being clinically tested against the inflammatory disease asthma and are showing promising results (Eckstein and Fung, 2003). They exhibit decreased nephrotoxicity and have different pharmacology and metabolism.

Tacrolimus and rapamycin are also active in stimulation of nerve cells (Gold, 2000) and might find use for neurological disorders. Certain ascomycin derivatives made by combinatorial biosynthesis are being studied for nerve regeneration (Revill et al., 2002). Immuno-suppressants have neuroprotective activity, i.e., they promote neurite outgrowth and protect neurons. Non-immunosuppressive analogs of rapamycin have been produced which retain neuroprotective activity (Ruan et al., 2008).

Cyclosporin A has activity against the malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum* in agreement with its genome containing sequences encoding cyclophilin and calcineurin (Berriman and Fairlamb, 1998; Dobson et al., 1999).

Ascomycins (immunomycins) were actually discovered earlier than the structurally related rapamycin and tacrolimus and are structurally related to rapamycin. They act as immunosuppressants, antitumor agents and antifungal agents. They never were commercialized as immunosuppressants. Novartis modified the structure of ascomycin, and produced Elidel^R, an agent for inflammatory skin diseases (Petersen, 2005). It is successfully used as a topical drug to relieve atopic dermatitis (eczema) in children and also has use in Netherton syndrome. Launched in 2002, it already had sales of \$349 million in 2004. Its antiinflammatory action is also useful for topical treatment of allergic contact dermatitis and psoriasis. Tacrolimus is also being studied as a topical preparation for atopic dermatitis.

Cyclosporin A is being considered as a drug to correct mitochondrial dysfunction and muscle opoptosis in patients with collagen VI myopathies, which include muscular dystrophy (Merlini et al., 2008).

5. Cholesterol-lowering agents

The statins were first discovered in fungi. Compactin (mevastatin, ML-236B) was reported as an antifungal agent by Brown et al. (1976) from *Penicillium brevicompactum* and as a cholesterol-lowering drug by Endo (1985). The fungal fermentation products lovastatin (mevinolin, monocolin K, mevacor) produced by *Aspergillus terreus* and *Monascus ruber*, and compactin (mevastatin) from *Penicillium* spp. were found to be highly effective in reducing serum cholesterol in humans, especially cholesterol LDL levels. These compounds are potent inhibitors of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase and block formation of all products of the mammalian polyisoprenoid pathway. They thus reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease.

Lovastatin, its related bioconversion compound pravastatin, its semisynthetic product simvastatin (Zocor), and its completely synthetic relative, atorvastatin (Lipitor) constitute the most economically successful drugs in the pharmaceutical industry. Of the above compounds, only compactin was not commercialized but instead was used as the substrate for the bioconversion to pravastatin. In addition to lowering cholesterol LDL levels, statins also lower elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) levels independent of their effect on cholesterol (Chan et al., 2004). This is important since half of all myocardial infarctions occur in patients with normal LDL levels. High CRP is associated with inflammatory response in atherosclerosis and is a predictor of future cardiovascular mortality.

Statins can also prevent stroke, reduce development of peripheral vascular disease, and have antithrombotic, neuroprotective and antiinflammatory activities. They are showing beneficial effects in Alzheimer Disease, prion diseases, multiple sclerosis and cancer (Fogarty, 2003). The reduction of inflammation in Alzheimer's disease is unassociated with cholesterol levels. Statins do this by lowering isoprenyl intermediates which are involved in the disease (Hrastar, 2005). Their anti-inflammatory and neuroprotective properties may make statins useful for central nervous system (CNS) autoimmune disorders such as multiple sclerosis (Youssef et al., 2002; Stuve et al., 2003; Wekerle, 2002; Brazil 2002). They inhibit production of proinflammatory molecules and are in clinical trials for multiple sclerosis. Experiments with oral statins showed efficacy in a mouse model of the disease. The anti-inflammatory effect appears to be independent of cholesterol-lowering.

Other activities being studied are stimulation of bone formation and antioxidation (Wrigley, 2004). Use of statins also leads to the decreased occurrence of sepsis. Simvastatin has an antibacterial effect against *Staphylococcus aureus* (Jerwood and Cohen, 2008). Against methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA), the *in vitro* minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) is 79 µg/ml whereas against methicillin-sensitive *S. aureus*, the value is 29 µg/ml. A statin derivative, fluvastatin, induces apoptosis in human tongue carcinoma cell line HSC-3, and is being considered as an antitumor drug (Fujiwara et al., 2008).

Squalestatin (zaragozic acid) is a fungal natural product which lowers cholesterol by a mechanism different from those described above which inhibit 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase; it inhibits squalene synthase. Low concentrations of squalestatin reduce the cholesterol content of the neurons and prevent the formation of PrP^{Sc} in three prion-infected cell lines (ScN2a, SMB and ScGT1 cells). It has been shown to cure prion-infected neurons and to protect against prion neurotoxicity. These observations suggest that squalestatin is a potential drug for the treatment of prion disease (Bate et al., 2004). Uninfected neurons treated with squalestatin became resistant to the otherwise toxic effect of PrP peptides, a synthetic miniprion (sPrP106) or partially purified prion preparations. The protective effect of squalestatin, which was reversed by the addition of water-soluble cholesterol, correlated with a reduction in prostaglandin E₂ production that is associated with neuronal injury in prion disease. These studies indicate a pivotal role for cholesterol-sensitive processes in controlling PrP^{Sc} formation, and in the activation of signaling pathways associated with PrP-induced neuronal death. Squalestatin also alters the intracellular trafficking of a neurotoxic prion peptide by shifting the prion protein from Golgi/ER to the degradative lysosomes and the neurotoxicity of this PrP peptide is dependent on trafficking to specific organelles where it activates specific signal transduction pathways (Wilson et al., 2007). Squalestatin also inhibits Ras farnesyl-protein transferase (FTase) which is believed to play an important role in development of progeria, a rare genetic disease characterized by premature aging in children, and various forms of cancer (Dufresne et al., 1993).

6. Other agents

6.1. Artemisinin

Artemisinin is a compound extracted from the wormwood plant, Artemisia annua L and is a leading antimalarial agent. In addition to this antimalarial action, it has been shown to selectively kill cancer cells *in vitro* and retard the growth of implanted fibrosarcoma tumors in rats (Singh and Lai, 2004).

6.2. Shikonin

Shikonin, a naphthaquinone pigment produced by cell culture of the plant *Lithgospermum erythrorhizon*, is widely used in the cosmetic industry. It also has anti-inflammatory, antitumor, wound healing, and anti-HIV replication activity (Chen et al., 2003; Lee et al., 2008).

6.3. Betulinic acid

Betulinic acid, a naturally occurring pentacyclic triterpenoid, is found in the bark of several species of plants, e.g., *Ziziphus mauritiana, Betula pubescens, Inonotus obliquus*, and cinder conk. It has antiretroviral, antimalarial, and anti-inflammatory properties, and potential as an anticancer agent by inhibition of topoisomerase (Noda et al., 1997). Betulin appears to be highly selective against tumor cells because the interior pH of tumor tissues is generally lower than that of normal tissues, and betulinic acid is only active at those lower levels. Fulda and Debatin (2005) reported that once inside the cells, betulinic acid induces apoptosis) in the tumors. A betulinic acid derivative was also shown to have anti-HIV activity.

6.4. Sophorolipids

Sophorolipids are surfactants produced by yeasts which have application in the food, cosmetic, pharmaceutical, and cleaning industries (Van Bogaert et al., 2007). They also have antibacterial, antifungal and antitumor properties. Production of sophorolipids by *Candida bombicola* is amazingly high, i.e. 400 g/L.

7. Final comments

Secondary metabolites have primarily been known for their extensive use as antibacterial and antifungal agents for the past 60 years. Other extremely successful applications of secondary metabolites are as antitumor agents, immunostimulants, and cholesterol-lowering agents, among others. Unexpected functions of known secondary metabolites are being unraveled and they have interesting applications in many lifethreatening diseases such as prion diseases. Alzheimer's disease, cancer (hepatoma, breast, hematopoietic, colorectal, gastric, pancreatic, leukemia, renal cell and other carcinomas, and fibrosarcoma), pulmonary disease, cardiovascular disease, parasitic diseases and viral diseases such as AIDS. Since most of the compounds discussed here have been successfully used in humans, the relatively low degree of toxicity gives great hope that these unexpected activities will be exploitable as future cures for the terrible diseases confronting humans today, e.g., Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis, cancer, parasitic diseases, cystic fibrosis, viral diseases and many others. Like the almost miraculous appearance of penicillin on the scene in the 1940s, we can look forward to a new era in medicine by taking advantage of molecules that are with us today as well as new derivatives to be made by chemists and microbial molecular geneticists.

References

Anonymous. Reliving Iraq. Science 2008;320:993.

- Arceci RJ, Stieglitz K, Bierer BE. Immunosuppressants FK506 and rapamycin function as reversal agents of the multidrug resistance phenotype. Blood 1992;80:1528–36.
- Balzarini J, Pannecouque C, De Clercq E, Pavlov AY, Printsevskaya SS, Miroshnikova OV, et al. Role of the glycopeptide framework in the antibacterial activity of hydrophobic derivatives of glycopeptide antibiotics. J Med Chem 2003;46:2755–64.
- Bate C, Salmona M, Diomede L, Williams A. Squalestatin cures prion-infected neurones and protects against prion nerurotoxicity. J Biol Chem 2004;279:14984–90.
- Berriman M, Fairlamb AH. Detailed characterization of a cyclophilin from the human malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*. Biochem J 1998;334:437–45.
- Borman S. The competition for academic positions. Chem Eng News 2002;80(33):42.
- Brazil M. Multiple sclerosis. A new use for statins? Nat Revs/Drug Disc 2002;1:934.
- BRNI Press release, FDA gives clinical trial green light on drug to treat Alzheimer's disease. April 22, 2009.
- Brown AG, Smale TC, King TJ, Hassenkamp R, Thompson RH. Crystal and molecular structure of compactin, a new antifungal metabolite from *Penicillium brevicompactum*. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 1976;1:1165–70.
- Brown VI, Fang J, Alcorn K, Barr R, Kim JM, Wasserman R, et al. Rapamycin is active against B-precursor leukemia *in vitro* and *in vivo*, an effect that is modulated by IL-7-mediated signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:15113–8.
- Chan KY, Boucher ES, Gandhi PJ, Silva MA. HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors for lowering elevated levels of C-reactive protein. Amer J Hlth-Syst Pharm 2004;61:1676–81.
- Chen X, Yang L, Zhang N, Turpin JA, Buckheit RW, Osterling C, et al. Shikonin, a component of Chinese herbal medicine, inhibits chemokine receptor function and suppresses human immunodeficiency virus type 1. Antimicrob Ag Chemother 2003;47:2810–6.
- Chong CR, Qian DZ, Pan F, Wei Y, Pili R, Sullivan Jr DJ, et al. Identification of type 1 inosine monophosphate dehydrogenase as an antiangiogenic drug target. J Med Chem 2006;49:2677–80.

Cisse M, Mucke L. Alzheimer's disease: A prion protein connection. Nature 2009;457:1090-1.

Cruz MC, Del Poeta M, Wang P, Wenger R, Zenke G, Quesniaux VFJ, et al. Immunosuppressive and nonimmunosuppressive cyclosporine analogs are toxic to the opportunistic fungal pathogen *Cryptococcus neoformans* via cyclophilin-dependent inhibition of calcineurin. Antimicrob Ag Chemother 2000;44:143–9.

- Demaimay R, Race R, Chesebro B. Effectiveness of polyene antibiotics in treatment of transmissible spongiform encephalopathy in transgenic mice expressing Syrian hamster PrP only in neurons. J Virol 1999;73:3511–3.
- Dobson S, May T, Berriman M, Del Vecchio C, Fairlamb AH, Chakrabarti D, et al. Characterization of protein Ser/Thr phosphatases of the malaria parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum*: inhibition of the parasitic calcineurin by cyclophilin–cyclosporin complex. Mol Biochem Parasitol 1999:99:167–81.
- Donnelly AC, Mays JR, Burlison JA, Nelson JT, Vielhauer G, Holzbeierlein J, et al. The design, synthesis, and evaluation of coumarin ring derivatives of the novobiocin scaffold that exhibit antiproliferative activity. J Org Chem 2008;73:8901–20.
- Dufresne CC, Wilson KE, Singh SB, Zink DL, Bergstrom JD, Rew D, et al. Zaragozic acids D and D2: potent inhibitors of squalene synthase and of Ras farnesyl-protein transferase. J Nat Prod 1993;56:1923–9.
- Durán N, Justo GZ, Ferreira CV, Melo PS, Cordi L, Martins D. Violacein: properties and biological activities. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 2007;48:127–33.
 Duran N, Justo GZ, Melo PS, De Azevedo MBM, Souza Brito ARM, Almeida ABA, et al.
- Duran N, Justo GZ, Melo PS, De Azevedo MBM, Souza Brito ARM, Almeida ABA, et al. Violacein and its beta-cyclodextrin complexes induce apoptosis and differentiation in HL60 cells. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2003;81:387–96.
- Eckstein JW, Fung J. A new class of cyclosporine analogues for the treatment of asthma. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2003;12:647–53.
- Endo A. Compactin (ML236B) and related compounds as potential cholesterol-lowering agents that inhibit HMG-CoA reductase. J Med Chem 1985;28:401–5.
- Filmore D. Progress without profits? Mod Drug Discovery 2004;7:17-8.
- Fogarty M. Saving statins. The Scientist 2003;17(22):22-3.
- Forloni G, Iussich S, Awan T, Colombo L, Angeretti N, Girola L, et al. Tetracyclines affect prion infectivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2002;99:10849–54.
- Fujiwara K, Tsubaki M, Yamazoe Y, Nishiura S, Kawaguchi T, Ogaki M, et al. Fluvastatin Induces apoptosis on human tongue carcinoma cell line HSC-3. J Pharm Soc Jp. (Yakugaku Zasshi) 2008;128:153–8.
- Fulda S, Debatin K-M. Sensitization for anticancer drug-induced apoptosis by betulinic acid. Neoplasia 2005;7:162–70.
- Georgiou NA, van der Bruggen T, Healy DMC, van Tienen C, de Bie P, Oudshoorn M, et al. Bleomycin has antiviral properties against drug-resistant HIV strains and sensitises virus to currently used antiviral agents. Int J Antimicrob Ag 2006;27:63–8.
- Gold BG. Neuroimmunophilin ligands: evaluation of their therapeutic potential for the treatment of neurological disorders. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 2000;9:2331–42.
- Guba M, von Breitenbuch P, Steinbauer M, Koehl G, Flegel S, Hornung M, et al. Rapamycin inhibits primary and metastatic tumor growth by antiangiogenesis. Involvement of vascular endothelial growth factor. Nat Med 2002;8:128–35.
- Golub LM, Lee H-M, Ryan ME, Giannobile WV, Payne J, Sorsa T. Tetracyclines inhibit connective tissue breakdown by multiple non-antimicrobial mechanisms. Adv Dent Res 1998;12:12–26.
- Goodin S. Novel cytotoxic agents: Epothilones. Amer J Hlth-Syst Pharm 2008;6(Suppl 3): S10–5.
- High KP. The antimicrobial activities of cyclosporine, FK506 and rapamycin. Transplantation 1994;57:1689–700.
- Hrastar LM. Statins reduce amyloid-induced inflammation. The Scientist 2005;19(2):22.
- Hu GF. Neomycin inhibits angiogenin-induced angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:9791–5.
- Jerwood S, Cohen J. Unexpected antimicrobial effect of statins. J Antimicrob Chemother 2008;61:362-4.
- Kadota J, Sakito O, Kohno S, Sawa H, Mukae H, Oda H, et al. A mechanism of erythromycin treatment in patients with diffuse panbronchiolitis. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993;147:153–9.
- Kim H, Kim SJ, Park SN, Oh JW. Bacterial metabolism of polychlorinated biphenyls. J Microbiol Biotechnol 2004;14:121–7.
- Komuro I, Sunazuka T, Akagawa KS, Yokota Y, Iwamoto A, Ōmura S. Erythromycin derivatives inhibit HIV-1 replication in macrophages through modulation of MAPK activity to induce small isoforms of C/EBPb. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:12509–14.
- Kortmansky J, Schwartz GK. Bryostatin-1: a novel PKC inhibitor in clinical development. Cancer Investig 2003;21:924–36.
- Kuhn D, Coates C, Daniel K, Chen D, Bhuiyan M, Kazi A, et al. Beta-lactams and their potential use as novel anticancer chemotherapeutics drugs. Frontiers Biosci 2004;9:2605–16.
- Law BK. Rapamycin: An anticancer immunosuppressant? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2005:56:47-60.
- Lederman L. Apoptosis. Biotechniques 2004;37:520-1.
- Lee H-J, Lee H-J, Magesh V, Nam D, Lee E-O, Ahn KS, et al. Shikonin, acetylshikonin, and idobutyroylshikonin inhibit VEGF-induced angiogenesis and suppress tumor growth in Lewis Lung Carcinoma-bearing mice. J. Pharm Soc Jpn (Yakugaku Zasshi) 2008;128: 1681–8.
- Lell B, Kremser PG. Clindamycin as an antimalarial drug: Review of clinical trials. Antimicrob Ag Chemother 2002;46:2315–20.
- Li YJ, Azuma A, Usuki J, Abe S, Matsuda K, Sunazuka T, et al. EM703 improves bleomycininduced pulmonary fibrosis in mice by the inhibition of TGF-β signaling in lung fibroblasts. Respir Res 2006;7(1):16.
- Mangé A, Nishida N, Milhavet O, McMahon HEM, Casanova D, Lehmann S. Amphotericin B inhibits the generation of the scrapie isoform of the prion protein in infected cultures. | Virol 2000;74:3135–40.
- Merlini L, Angelin A, Tiepolo T, Braghetta P, Sabatelli P, Zamparelli A, et al. Cyclosporin A corrects mitochondrial dysfunction and muscle apoptosis in patients with collagen VI myopathies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:5225–9.
- White States and St
- Newman DJ, Shapiro S. Microbial prescreens for anticancer activity. SIM News 2008;58: 132–50.

- Noda Y, Kaiya T, Kohda K, Kawazoe Y. Enhanced cytotoxicity of some tritepenes toward leukemia L1210 cells cultured in low pH media; possibility of a new mode of cell killing. Chem Pharm Bull 1997;45:1665–70.
- Onyewu C, Blankenship JR, Del Poeta M, Heitman J. Ergosterol biosynthesis inhibitors become fungicidal when combined with calcineurin inhibitors in Candida albicans, Candida glabrata, and Candida krusei. Antimicrob Ag Chemothe. 2003;47:956–64.
- Pandey R, Chander R, Sainis KB. Prodigiosins: A novel family of immunosuppressants with anti-cancer activity. Ind J Biochem Biophys 2007;44:295–302.
- Péreg-Tomás R, Montaner B, Llagostera E, Soto-Cerrato V. Mitochondria-mediated apoptosis operating irrespective of multidrug resistance in breast cancer cells by the anticancer agent prodigiosin. Biochem Pharmacol 2003;66:1447–52.
- Petersen F. Natural products and innovative therapeutic concepts. SIM Annual Meeting Program and Abstracts, Abstr. S15, p. 60, Chicago, 2005.
- Pray L. Strange bedfellows in transplant drug therapy. The Scientist 2002;16(7):36.
- Rakic B, Brûlotte M, Rouleau Y, Bélanger S. Pezacki JP Bleomycin is a potent smallmolecule inhibitor of hepatitis C virus replication. Chem Biochem 2006;7:1330–3.
- Revill WP, Voda J, Reeves CR, Chung L, Schirmer A, Ashley G, et al. Genetically engineered analogs of ascomycin for nerve regeneration. J Pharmacol Exper Ther 2002;302:1278–85.
- Rini B, Kar S, Kirkpatrick P. Temsirolimus. Nat Rev./Drug Disc 2007;6:599-600.
- Ruan B, Pong K, Jow F, Bowlby M, Crozier RA, Liu D, et al. Binding of rapamycin analogs to calcium channels and FKBP52 contributes to their neuroprotective activities. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105:33–8.
- Ruangweerayut R, Looareesuwan S, Hutchinson D, Chauemung A, Banmairuroi V, Na-Bangchang K. Assessment of the pharmacokinetics and dynamics of two combination regimens of fosmidomycin–clindamycin in patients with acute uncomplicated falciparum malaria. Malaria J 2008;7:225, doi:10.1186/1475-2875-7-225.
- Ryan JF. Minirevolutions. Mod Drug Discovery 2003;6(11):7.
- Sánchez C, Braña AF, Méndez C, Salas JA. Reevaluation of the violacein biosynthetic pathway and its relationship to indolocarbazole biosynthesis. Chembiochem 2006;7:1231–40.
- Sawyers CL. Will mTOR inhibitors make it as cancer drugs? Cancer Cell 2003;4:343–8. Schlitzer M. Antimalarial drugs What is in use and what is in the pipeline. Arch Pharm
- Chem Life Sci 2008;341:149–63.
 Schultz MJ. Intravenous infusion of erythromycin inhibits CXC chemokine production, but augments neutrophil degranulation in whole blood stimulated with *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother 2004;54:21–8.
- Shinkai M, Henke MO, Rubin BK. Macrolide antibiotics as immunomodulatory medications: proposed mechanisms of action. Pharmacol. Ther. 2008;117:393–405.
- Singh NP, Lai HC. Artemisinin induces apoptosis in human cancer cells. Anticancer Res 2004;24:2277–80.
- Solit DB, Ivy SP, Kopil C, Sikorski R, Morris MJ, Slovin SF, et al. Angiogenesis impairment in Id-deficient mice cooperates with an Hsp90 inhibitor to completely suppress HER2/neu-dependent breast tumors. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:1775–82.
- Stoeltzing O, Meric-Bernstam F, Ellis LM. Intracellular signaling in tumor and endothelial cells: The expected and, yet again, the unexpected. Cancer Cel 2006;10:89–91.
- Stuve O, Youssef S, Dunn S, Slavin AJ, Steinman L, Zamvil SS. The potential therapeutic role of statins in central nervous system autoimmune disorders. Cell Molec Life Sci 2003;60:2483–91.
- Tanaka H, Matsuzaki K, Nakashima H, Ogino T, Matsumoto A, Ikeda H, et al. Chloropeptins, new anti-HIV antibiotics inhibiting gp120-CD4 binding from *Streptomyces* sp. 1. Taxonomy, fermentation, isolation and physico-chemical properties and biological activities. J Antibiot 1997;50:58–65.
- Tewary P, Veena K, Pucadyil TJ, Chattopadhyay A, Madhubala R. The sterol-binding antibiotic nystatin inhibits entry of non-opsonized *Leishmania donovani* into macrophages. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;339:661–6.
- Van Bogaert INA, Saerens K, De Muynck C, Develter D, Soetaert W, Vandamme EJ. Microbial production and application of sophorolipids. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2007;76:23–34.
- Vishnevetsky D, Patel P, Tijerino H, Gandhi PJ. Sirolimus-eluting coronary stent. Am J Health-Syst Pharm 2004;61:449–56.
- Wang Y, Zhao Q, Ma S, Yang F, Gong Y, Ke C. Sirolimus inhibits human pancreatic carcinoma cell proliferation by a mechanism linked to the targeting of mTOR/HIF-1 alpha/VEGF signaling. IUBMB Life 2007;59:717–21.
- Wekerle H. Tackling multiple sclerosis. Nature 2002;420:39-40.
- Williamson NR, Fineran PC, Leper FJ, Salmond GPC. The biosynthesis and regulation of bacterial prodigenes. Nat Rev Microbiol 2006;4:887–99.
- Wilson R, Bate C, Boshuizen R, Williams A, Brewer J. Squalestatin alters the intracellular trafficking of a neurotoxic prion peptide. BMC Neurosci 2007;8:99-111.
- Wrigley SK. Pharmacologicallly active agents of microbial action. In: Bull AT, editor. Microbial Diversity and Bioprospecting. Washington: ASM Press; 2004. p. 356–74. ch. 32.
- Wu L-Z, Zhang H-T, Han F, Gao Q-J, Sun G-Z, Wang Y-G. Synthesis of one dimensional zinc oxide nanostructure and their applications. Chi J Antibiot 2008;33:396–402.
- Xing B, Rao J, Liu R. Novel beta-zlactam antibiotic derivatives: their new applications as gene reporters, antitumor prodrugs and enzyme inhibitors. Mini Rev Med Chem. 2008;8:455–71.
- Youssef S, Stüve O, Patarroyo PJ, Ruiz PJ, Radosevich JL, Hur EM, et al. The potential therapeutic role of statins in central nervous system autoimmune disorders. Nature 2002;420:78–84.
- Zhang J, Liu J, Shen Y, Wei D, Li K. Inhibitive effect of prodigiosin on the proliferation of human malignant pancreatic cancer cells. Med Chem Res 2005;14:181–97.
- Zotchev SB. Chemical diversity of polyene macrolides produced by *Streptomyces noursei* ATCC 11455 and recombinant strain ERD44 with genetically altered polyketide synthase NysC. Curr Med Chem 2003;10:211–23.